STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Aug 28 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

BRYAN JEFFREY ELLIS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000761

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

GARY H. JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR court err in finding trial counsel was effective when he neither objected to the solicitor's improper characterization of petitioner as a convicted sex offender nor moved for a mistrial or get an affirmative ruling acknowledging the solicitor's improper closing argument that appealed to the jury's passions and prejudices to convict rather than the evidence presented during trial?

STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted by a Lexington County Grand Jury on June 5, 2017, for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and on July 10, 2017, for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the third degree. App. 686 - 690. His case was called to trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury, from July 10 through July 12, 2017. App. 1.

Suzanne Mayes and La'Jessica Stringfellow appeared on behalf of the state; David Mauldin represented Appellant. App. 1. The jury returned verdicts of guilty, and Judge McMahon sentenced Appellant to incarceration for life for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, and incarceration for fifteen years for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the third degree, with sentences to run consecutively. App. 485, ll. 12 - 20.

On direct appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction in an unpublished opinion. *See State v. Ellis*, No. 2017-001558, 2019 WL 2723215 (S.C. Ct. App. June 26, 2019). Petitioner timely filed for post-conviction relief, asserting numerous grounds. App. 487 – 509. Ola Johnson appeared on petitioner's behalf and filed amended grounds for relief. App. 535, 538. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Jocelyn Newman on June 8, 2022. App. 540. Mr. Johnson represented petitioner and Taylor Smith appeared on behalf of the state. App. 541. Judge Newman filed an order denying relief on March 19, 2025. App. 625.

This petition for certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

1. The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was effective when he neither objected to the solicitor's improper characterization of petitioner as a convicted sex offender nor moved for a mistrial or get an affirmative ruling acknowledging the solicitor's improper closing argument that appealed to the jury's passions and prejudices to convict rather than the evidence presented during trial.

A. How the matter impacted trial.

During closing argument, the solicitor repeatedly sought to influence the jury to base its verdict on passion and prejudice rather than the evidence before them. This included improper comments on the petitioner's right to testify in his own defense and have a jury decide his fate:

He takes that stand and calls that child a liar. Of all his sins I submit that's right up there at the top. Everything he's done to her that action is just as bad as the crimes he committed against her soul and against her body to call that child a liar when it's taken everything she has to summon up the bravery not just to tell nana *but to then have to go tell strangers about it and to take that stand for you 12, 13, 14 strangers and this courtroom full of people she's never met and talk about the most shameful of experiences. He's stealing her innocence even now. Think about that as a price she's paid for justice and give it back to her.* It's what she deserves the most.

App. 435, l. 17 – 436, l. 4 (emphasis added).

The solicitor referred to petitioner during closing argument as a sex offender, with the clear implication that he was already convicted of prior bad acts of the same nature as those before the jury, despite acknowledging to the trial judge there was no such prior record of convictions. App. 302, ll. 5 – 7.

That's how a sex offender thinks and I submit to you it's something that can't be understood or rationalized by anybody in this courtroom but that is not the law. It is not our job to try to interpret what the twisted mind of a sex offender thinks or feels or how he operates.

App. 436, l. 22 – 437, l. 2.

He is everything he owns up to being right here in this confession. A sex offender is as bad as it gets.

App. 437, ll. 18 – 19.

He wanted to break down every barrier and inhibition that that child had to teach her from the youngest age possible that it was okay and that it was right so that she would do everything that he said and I submit to you that is only how a sex offender would think and would act.

App. 441, ll. 8 – 13.

Trial counsel failed to object to the continued painting of petitioner as a “sex offender” with all the inappropriate baggage that term carried before the jury. Emboldened, the solicitor further pushed the envelope by warning the jury to find petitioner guilty to protect other children, finally drawing an objection from trial counsel:

This is a sex offender and there's no other way around it. Let this be the last time that he hurts a child in this way. Let this be the last time he steals the innocence –

MR. MAULDIN: Objection, Your Honor.

MS. MAYES: -- of a child.

MR. MAULDIN: Appealing to passion and prejudice.

App. 446, ll. 15 – 21.

However, the trial court never informed the jury that the objection was sustained and that the solicitor's argument was improper. Rather, the trial court admonished the jury to remember that their “verdict will not be based on passion and prejudice, biased or any other motive not in

evidence or emotion not in evidence in the case. It must be based on the facts and the reasonable inferences therefrom. Thank you, Mr. Mauldin. Thank you, Solicitor. You may continue.” App. 446, l. 23 – 447, l. 3.

Without the admonition, the solicitor continued to inject improper motives for conviction before the jury:

MS. MAYES: Yes, sir, Your Honor.

I submit to you this must be the last time. The correct verdict in this case –

MR. MAULDIN: Objection, Your Honor.

App. 447, ll. 4 – 7. Once again, the trial court did not specifically rule on trial counsel’s objection, providing another general instruction to the jury that its “verdict must be based on the evidence, the reasonable inferences drawn therefrom and the law as I tell you the law is.” App. 447, ll. 8 – 11.

The solicitor, in reply, continued to improperly imply petitioner was a guilty sex offender charged with yet more sex offenses before the jury:

Just the attempts of a manipulative sex offender trying to talk his way out of it with Sergeant Rawl the same way he took that stand and tried to talk his way out of it to everyone in this courtroom.

App. 456, ll. 3 – 7.

B. How the matter was addressed at PCR.

At PCR, trial counsel offered no explanation for not seeking the appropriate remedy or getting a definitive ruling from the trial court regarding the validity of his objection:

Q. Did you get a ruling on page 446, 447, when there was a motion for mistrial, and it references -- do you recall making that motion for mistrial?

A. Let's see. Is it 446 and 447? Is that what you're saying?

Q. I thought that's what I -- let me double check that. Yeah, 446, 447.

A. I see where -- If I object to her mentioning of (indiscernible) this will be the last time he hurts a child and this will be the last time he steals the innocence -- I think it's stealing the innocence. Appealing the passion and prejudice. (Indiscernible) this must be the last time, which is just the same thing in a different ---

Q. So I'm just saying ---

A. --- different Cadillac, and I objected again ---

Q. Well ---

A. --- the Judge gave a charge -- let's see. I don't see where I'm moving for mistrial.

Q. Well, I guess -- I'm sorry. I misstated my question. My question was is it true you did not move for mistrial?

A. I did not.

App. 595, l. 7 – 596, l. 1.

Trial counsel was flippant regarding the failure to object to the solicitor repeatedly implying to the jury that petitioner was already a convicted sex offender:

Q. Okay. And moving on to the second amended application, you did not raise an objection to him being referred to -- the Defendant being referred to as a sex offender. You did not object to that.

A. That is correct. You're right.

Q. Is it possible that someone could have -- the jury could have heard that and thought sex offender registry? That would have been prejudicial against your client? Is that possible?

A. I think the 7 page confession was pretty much detailing how he molested a child. So the fact that the solicitor called him a child molester, it's kind of a six, and one half a dozen of another.

App. 596, ll. 2 – 14.

C. How the PCR Court ruled.

The PCR court found that a mistrial would have not been “appropriate with the trial court cautionary instructions to the jury” and that trial counsel “was not deficient in failing to request a mistrial after the instructions to the brief comments by the prosecutor.” App. 677. The PCR court also found trial counsel had a valid strategic reason for not objecting to the improper characterization that petitioner was a convicted sex offender since “Trial Counsel credibly testified that there was a seven-page confession detailing how Applicant molested a child and so the solicitor did not find the term to be objectionable. Trial Counsel articulated his reason for not objecting and therefore is found to not be deficient.” App. 680. As to both concerns, the PCR court found a lack of prejudice would preclude relief in the event trial counsel’s performance was deficient.

D. How the PCR Court erred.

In this matter, the solicitor improperly called petitioner as a “sex offender” numerous times (telling the jury that petitioner had already committed sex offenses and was on trial for another sex offense), that conviction of this “sex offender” was required to protect other children, and that the jury trial itself was stealing the innocence of minor by forcing her to testify. “A solicitor’s closing argument must not appeal to the personal biases of the jurors nor be calculated to arouse the jurors’ passions or prejudices, and its content should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it.” Humphries v. State, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002). “[W]hile [solicitor] may strike hard blows, [solicitor] is not at liberty to strike foul ones. It is as much his duty to refrain from improper methods calculated to produce a wrongful conviction as it is to use every legitimate means to bring about a just one.” Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935). It is “incumbent” for “trial counsel to object to the solicitor’s” improper closing

arguments. Brown v. State, 383 S.C. 506, 517, 680 S.E.2d 909, 915 (2009). As noted in Brown, even when trial counsel articulates some valid strategy for failing to object to improper closing, such strategy will not be found valid in the face of the “evident impropriety of the solicitor’s remarks.” Id.

“Sex offender” carries negative connotations that may not be washed away from the jury’s conscious. The term “sex offender” is loaded with those negative connotations in the same way as the term “terrorist.” Vasquez v. State, 388 S.C. 447, 459, 698 S.E.2d 561, 567 (2010) (noting it “is indisputable that the term ‘terrorist,’ even in the general sense, can only conjure negative connotations.”). It is improper for the solicitor to tag a name onto the accused to tilt the scales of justice in favor of conviction by appealing to emotions with the jury. In State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 535 S.E.2d 431 (2000), it was the defendant’s nickname of “outlaw.” In reversing the conviction, this Court noted that the solicitor “repeatedly referred to Day as an outlaw in her closing argument in order to paint a picture of Day as someone who was proud of his status as an outlaw, who felt he was above the law, and who was able to deceive law enforcement by hiding evidence and concocting a story about self-defense.” State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 422–23, 535 S.E.2d 431, 438 (2000). In this case, the solicitor repeatedly painted the picture of appellant as a “sex offender” implying he had prior convictions to improperly influence the jury.

Moreover, a “prosecutor may not urge jurors to convict a criminal defendant in order to protect community values, preserve civil order, or deter future lawbreaking. The evil lurking in such prosecutorial appeals is that the defendant will be convicted for reasons wholly irrelevant to his own guilt or innocence.” State v. Liberte, 336 S.C. 648, 654, 521 S.E.2d 744, 747 (Ct. App. 1999) (*quoting* United States v. Monaghan, 741 F.2d 1434, 1441 (D.C. Cir. 1984)). As in

Liberte, wrapping the conviction of petitioner into the need for the jury to protect other children from petitioner was “far too heavy a burden for the [petitioner] to bear.”

E. Prejudice.


Prejudice in this case mirrors Washington v. State, 445 S.C. 233, 911 S.E.2d 536 (Ct. App. 2025). In Washington, the Court of Appeals addressed the impact of improper vouching during closing argument. The Court of Appeals noted that “trial counsel's failure to object was prejudicial because there was no physical evidence of the alleged CSC and the only other evidence in the case required an assessment of the relative credibility of the witnesses.” Id., 445 S.C. 233, 243, 911 S.E.2d 536, 541.

In this case, the credibility of the minor’s claims of sexual abuse were supported by petitioner’s written confession, a document relied upon extensively by the PCR court (as well as petitioner’s own counsel) for finding none of the errors mattered. App. 596, ll. 2 – 14; 682. However, that confession itself was subject to a credibility determination by the jury. Petitioner testified at trial and admitted to certain improper behaviors with minor. App. 385, l. 19 – 386, l. 6. However, that admitted behavior did not amount to criminal sexual conduct with a minor. Petitioner testified that he felt threatened by investigator Rawl during the interrogation and that Rawl pushed him into “saying what he wanted me to say.” App. 400, ll. 15-19; 402, ll. 20-24. Petitioner said he made up the portions of the statement in which he admitted to sexual acts and touching of minor in response to Rawl’s interrogation. App. 402, l. 5 – 403, l. 25. Petitioner testified clearly that he did not have sexual contact or oral sex with minor during trial. App. 386, ll. 4-6; 403, ll. 23-25. The minor testified there was inappropriate sexual contact. The petitioner’s confession would certainly tilt the scales in favor of the jury believing the minor, as

happened during petitioner's original trial. However, that decision was one based upon credibility: the jury elected not to believe petitioner about being coerced into the confession. As in Washington v. State, 445 S.C. 233, 911 S.E.2d 536 (Ct. App. 2025), that reliance on credibility precludes a finding of lack of prejudice.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, this Court should grant the petition and reverse the decision of the PCR court and grant petitioner a new trial.



Gary H. Johnson
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER