RECEIVED

Feb 17 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court**

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Lexington County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Jocelyn J. Newman, PCR Judge
The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Plea Judge
2020-CP-32-02225

Appellate Case No. 2025-000761

BRYAN JEFFREY ELLIS,

Petitioner,

v.

State Of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3601

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT WHY CERTIORARI SHOULD BE DENIED

Certiorari should be denied when the PCR judge properly applied the correct standard in concluding that counsel was not deficient in failing to object to the solicitor's use of the term "sex offender" in her closing argument in a trial on criminal sexual conduct with a minor when it was not a suggestion of a prior record and reasonably drew from the evidence in the record including his admitted confession. A court should not lightly infer that a prosecutor intends an ambiguous remark to have its most damaging meaning or that a jury, sitting through lengthy exhortation, will draw that meaning from the plethora of less damaging interpretations. The use of the phrase was limited during the closing argument and Sixth Amendment prejudice was also not shown.

The State during its closing argument never use the phrase "convicted sex offender" in reference to Petitioner. The Petitioner asserts that the prosecutor's use of the phrase "sex offender" seven (7) times during her extensive closing argument should have been objected to by my Petitioner's defense counsel or a mistrial requested.² Despite the fact that no evidence was presented to the jury that Petitioner had a prior record of convictions for similar acts, Petitioner contends that the prosecution was actually asserting that Petitioner was a "**convicted** sex offender" in her use of that term claiming "with the clear implication that Ellis had already been convicted of prior sex acts by the same nature, even though he acknowledged that there was no prior record of convictions. App.p. 302. The PCR Court rejected that assertion and found that counsel was not deficient and acted reasonably in failing to object to the limited Solicitor's use of the term during her closing and reply argument.

In *Donnelly v. DeChristoforo*, 416 U.S. 637 at 647, 94 S.Ct. 1868, 40 L.Ed.2d 431 (1974) the U.S. Supreme Court that "a court should not lightly infer that a prosecutor intends an ambiguous remark to have its most damaging meaning or that a jury, sitting through lengthy exhortation, will draw that meaning from the plethora of less damaging interpretations"). In

² It should be noted that the phrase "sex offender" arose when the Petitioner testified that he was groomed as a child as a sex offender. App.p. 417, 440.

State v. Durden, 264 S.C. 86, 212 S.E.2d 587 (1975), the Supreme Court set forth the parameters of permissible prosecutorial argument. So long as the prosecutor stays within the record and its reasonable inferences, he may legitimately appeal to the jury to do their full duty. *Id.* at 92, 212 S.E.2d at 590. A closing argument must stay confined to the evidence within the record or any reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom. *Vasquez v. State*, 388 S.C. 447, 458, 698 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2010).

A solicitor has the right to state his version of the testimony and to comment on the weight to be given such testimony. *State v. Allen*, 266 S.C. 468, 224 S.E.2d 881 (1976). A review of the closing argument is based upon the standard of “whether the prosecutor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” *State v. Hawkins*, 292 S.C. 418, 421, 357 S.E.2d 10, 12 (1987). *See State v. Caldwell*, 300 S.C. 494, 504, 388 S.E.2d 816, 822 (1990) (a prosecutor may argue her case vigorously and give her version of the testimony, and what weight or credibility should be given to the evidence); *State v. Cannon*, 220 S.C. 614, 93 S.E.2d 880 (1956). “A solicitor may not vouch for the credibility of a State's witness based on personal knowledge or other information outside the record.” *Matthews v. State*, 350 S.C. 272, 276, 565 S.E.2d 766, 768 (2002).

“A solicitor's closing argument must not appeal to the personal biases of the jurors nor be calculated to arouse the jurors’ passions or prejudices, and its content should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it.” *Humphries v. State*, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002). A solicitor is allowed to argue his or her version of the evidence and to comment on how much weight to give such evidence. *Vasquez*, 388 S.C. at 458, 698 S.E.2d at 566. However, a solicitor's duty is to see justice done, not to convict a defendant. *Id.* Therefore, a closing argument “must be carefully tailored so as not to appeal to the personal bias of the juror nor be

calculated to arouse his passion or prejudice.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Northcutt*, 372 S.C. 207, 222, 641 S.E.2d 873, 881 (2007)). “Jurors are sworn to be governed by the evidence, and it is their duty to consider the facts of the case impartially.” *State v. Reese*, 370 S.C. 31, 38, 633 S.E.2d 898, 901 (2006), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009). *Washington v. State*, 440 S.C. 550, 564, 891 S.E.2d 668, 675–76 (Ct. App. 2023).

When counsel makes an improper argument, opposing counsel should “immediately object and ... have a record made of the statements or language complained of and ... ask the court for a distinct ruling thereon.” *State v. Black*, 319 S.C. 515, 521, 462 S.E.2d 311, 315 (Ct. App. 1995). “The trial court has broad discretion when dealing with the propriety of the solicitor's argument, including the question of whether to grant a defendant's mistrial motion.” *State v. Copeland*, 321 S.C. 318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). “Improper comments do not require reversal if they are not prejudicial to the defendant, and the appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument.” *Randall v. State*, 356 S.C. 639, 642, 591 S.E.2d 608, 610 (2004). Accordingly, the appellate court must determine whether the improper argument “so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” *Id.* To make this determination, the appellate court will review the improper argument in the context of the entire record. *Simmons v. State*, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998).

The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court.” *State v. Harris*, 382 S.C. 107, 117, 674 S.E.2d 532, 537 (Ct. App. 2009). “The power of the trial court to declare a mistrial should be used with the greatest caution” and only “when absolutely necessary” and a defendant has to “show both error and resulting prejudice.” *Id.* “The granting of

a motion for a mistrial is an extreme measure that should only be taken if an incident is so grievous that the prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.” *Id.*

The Petitioner contends in this proceeding that the use of the term “sex offender” had a negative connotation and compared it to the phrase “domestic terrorist” which the Court found offensive in *Vasquez v. State, supra*. And the use of the phrase “outlaw” in *State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 422-23, 535 S.E.2d 431, 438 (2000). Each of those cases are distinguishable from the use of “sex offender” by Solicitor Mayes.

In *Vasquez*, the Court was faced with a case involving the robbery and murder of employees at a Burger King by a prior employee who happened to be Muslim. In that setting the Court found the counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the prosecutor’s use in open and closing of references to the defendant as a “domestic terrorist” and drew a correlation between Petitioner's indicted conduct and the events of September 11, 2001 and (2) urged jurors to imagine the fear and terror of one of the murder victims. In *Day*, the Court found the prosecutor's referencing defendant's nickname of “outlaw” 23 times during closing argument in murder prosecution was excessive and repetitious, and deprived defendant of due process of law, as the nickname was not used to prove any matter in controversy.

In this setting, the limited references to sex offender were related to what the State was trial to prove the Petitioner was guilty of - criminal sexual conduct with a minor. The State’s first reference to “sex offender” was related to rhetorical comments about how a sex offender operates and thinks arising from the Petitioner’s own confession related to grooming and the question to the Petitioner at trial related to the statements related to what a victim liked and did not like (App.p. 436). Further, the Solicitor was relating the twisted mind of a sex offender thinks or feels or operates. The Solicitor noted that Petitioner testimony related that he was

abused as a child and lived with a sex offender. App.p. 440. In her description of the confession of Petitioner and his testimony he is relating it to how a sex offender is. He is proving from the evidence that the Petitioner is guilty of being a sex offender in this case. This is how the offender acts.

The Court should reject the assertion in the context of this record that the State was asserting that Petitioner was a previously convicted sex offender.

The Petitioner did not prove counsel was deficient in failing to object and/or request a mistrial to the limited use. Counsel David Mauldin testified that the State was trying to prove that Ellis was a sex offender and that she could call him as sex offender like you could call a defendant a drug dealing in the closing argument in a drug case or murderer in a murder case. App.p. 595-596. Although the Petitioner now refers to the responses as flippant in his Petitioner, counsel assessment was accurate. This is unlike Vasquez where the State was not trying to prove Vasquez was a “domestic terrorist” and references to 9-11 which according to the Court was presented to only inflame the passions of the jury in the State’s favor, not to prove the murder in a restaurant by a former employee. Unlike *Day* where over 23 references to him being an “outlaw” which was his nickname was found to be overly prejudicial because the nickname was not used to prove anything in controversy. Unlike those, here the State was trying to prove the Petitioner was a sex offender. It was used to explain based upon Petitioner’s confession and testimony how a sex offender thinks and operates – how Ellis thinks and operates.

The Respondent submits that the Court cannot say that no reasonable counsel would have acted as counsel Mauldin did. The PCR Court had evidence to support its finding and the

conclusion of law that Petitioner had not proved deficient performance and counsel acted within the reasonable standards of competency demanded of criminal lawyers.³

Respondent further submits that certiorari is not proper because the Applicant has failed to prove prejudice under *Strickland*. There is no reasonable probability that the result would have been different had the counsel objected to the characterization of “sex offender” in the State’s closing and reply. A prosecutor’s comments deprive the accused of due process of law where the comments “so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” *State v. Tubbs*, 333 S.C. 316, 509 S.E.2d 815 (1999) (quoting *Donnelly v. DeChristoforo*, 416 U.S. 637, 643, 94 S.Ct. 1868, 1871, 40 L.Ed.2d 431, 437 (1974)). This Court held in *State v. Tubbs*, supra, that a prosecutor’s use of a nickname can deprive the defendant of due process if the use of the nickname is so excessive and repetitious as to infect the entire trial with unfairness. In *Tubbs*, the solicitor’s reference to defendant’s nickname, “Cobra”, during summation did not infect the entire trial with unfairness because it was only used seven times, and one of those times was used to establish identity. *Id.* at 316, 509 S.E.2d at 818. However, in *State v. Hawkins*, 292 S.C. 418, 357 S.E.2d 10 (1987) overruled on other grounds by *State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991), this Court held that the solicitor’s reference to

³ In his Petition, he also refers to App.p. 435, l. 17-p. 436, l. 4. He claims this reference in which the State takes the Petitioner to task for calling his child a liar and gives the State’s version as to why the victim is credible and the Petitioner is not. He claims that counsel should have objected because it was an improper comment on the Petitioner’s right to testify. Counsel was not deficient in failing to object. See *State v. Caldwell*, 300 S.C. 494, 504, 388 S.E.2d 816, 822 (1990) (a prosecutor may argue her case vigorously and give her version of the testimony, and what weight or credibility should be given to the evidence). However, the Petitioner never challenged this portion of the State’s closing argument in any fashion in his pleadings or amendment. It is procedurally barred from consideration in this certiorari proceeding since it was not raised or ruled upon by the PCR Court.

defendant's nickname, "Mad Dog", over forty times during the guilt and sentencing phase was excessive and repetitious and denied the defendant due process.

"In assessing the propriety of remarks made during the State's closing argument, appellate courts must determine 'whether the solicitor's comments "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." ' " *Tappeiner v. State*, 416 S.C. 239, 251, 785 S.E.2d 471, 477 (2016) (quoting *Vaughn*, 362 S.C. at 169–70, 607 S.E.2d at 75). Similar to *Tubbs*, the use of "sex offender" only occurred 7 times. (App. 436, 437 (2), 440, 441, 446, 456. These limited comments did not affect the trial with unfairness. *See Arnold v. Evatt*, 113 F.3d 1352 (4th Cir.1997) (death penalty case in which the solicitor's occasional use of the defendant's nickname, "Mad Dog," during the guilt phase and resentencing proceedings did not deny defendant due process of law), This case is similar to *State v. Randall*, 356 S.C. 639, 591 S.E.2d 608. In *Randall*, the Court held a solicitor's closing argument wherein he referred to the defendant drug dealers as "dirty cockroaches" did not require a new trial because there was strong evidence of the defendants' guilt. 356 S.C. at 643, 591 S.E.2d at 610. The court also noted the solicitor's "dirty cockroach" argument only consisted of ten lines of the transcript and was not repeated throughout the trial. *Id.* at 643, 591 S.E.2d at 611.

The Petitioner assumed that he has proved prejudice based upon his reading of *Washington v. State*, 445 S.C. 233, 911 S.E.2d 536 (Ct. App. 2025). *Washington*, unlike this setting, referred to improper vouching during the closing argument in an alleged criminal sexual conduct case. In *Washington*, the Court found no physical evidence, so the vouching impacted upon the case since the credibility of the witnesses was the issue. In the present cases, it is not a vouching case at all. On the contrary, it is a case where limited phrases either compared or defined sex offender characteristics and the Petitioner. Evidence in the record includes statements

by the victim, inculpatory statements by the Petitioner. In this case, the prosecutor's invocation of these descriptive labels were not excessive within the context of the closing argument as a whole and, further, did not purposely or otherwise saturate the trial with emotion. Especially in this case, where there was abundant evidence of Applicant's guilt, including testimony from admissions, this Court does not find reasonable counsel was under a duty to object to the use of that term of art where the prosecutor's occasional use of the term "sex offender" did not render the trial fundamentally unfair.

Certiorari should be denied where the PCR Court properly found the Applicant has failed to present sufficient evidence to prove the first prong of the *Strickland* test—that Trial Counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Furthermore, Applicant has failed to present specific and compelling evidence that Trial Counsel committed either errors or omissions to prove the second prong of Strickland—that he was prejudiced by Trial Counsel's performance. Respondent submits the Petitioner failed to prove, in this setting that there was a reasonable probability that had counsel objected the result of the proceeding would have been different.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, Respondent seeks permission to more fully brief the issues herein.